

DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES

NON-NATIVE PLANTS IN MOUNTAIN ECOSYSTEMS:

An exploration of plant diversity and its response to road disturbance and alien invasion



Lina Anderberg

Degree project for Bachelor of Science with a major in Biology BIO602 Biology: Degree project 15 hp First cycle Semester/year: Spring 2023 Supervisor: Anne Bjorkman Examiner: Johan Uddling Fredin

Abstract

Understanding patterns of invasive plants becomes ever more important as anthropogenic presence continues to facilitate their spread. In mountainous landscapes, cases of establishment by nonnative species have become frequent, despite the environmentally unfavorable conditions for plants less adapted to the harsh climate. This development can be attributed much to the construction of mountain roads at high elevations, as they provide both a means of seed transport and the disturbance in the vegetation cover needed for germination. Along with an increased presence of non-native species comes the inquiry of threat to biodiversity: Are these supposed invaders reducing the richness of native plants? This study examines the relationship between elevation, road proximity and presence of non-native plants as factors affecting species richness, a simple measure of biodiversity. The analysis uses data gathered following a standardized protocol provided by the MIREN research organization, sampled in Norwegian mountains. Results show that non-native species richness decreased with elevation and were highest in abundance near the low-lands. Richness was on average 14.1 species higher in roadside than natural vegetation. The relationship between non-native and native richness was positive (1.57 increase per unit), showing no sign of negative biotic interactions. An interaction between non-native species richness and road proximity was not found. The results support previous studies, giving strength to the conclusion that human activity is changing the distributional patterns and diversity of plants in mountain landscapes. It also implicates that close attention to new arrivals and preventative measures are important tools for managing potentially invasive species.

Innehållsförteckning

Abstract	1
1. Introduction	3
1.1 Alpine ecosystems and the distribution of invasive species	3
1.2 Roads as vectors for invasions	4
1.3 Effect on diversity of native plants	4
1.3 Project aim	4
2. Method	5
2.1 Survey design	5
2.2 Data handling and statistics	6
2.3 Statistical tests	7
3. Results	7
3.1 Overall and elevational distributions	7
3.2 Road proximity and native – alien relationship	8
3.3 Interaction	
4. Discussion	11
4.1 Invasiveness and invasibility	
4.2 Limitations, future studies and implications for management	
Conclusion	13
Acknowledgments	
References	13

1. Introduction

1.1 Alpine ecosystems and the distribution of invasive species

Mountain and alpine landscapes are still considered to be ecosystems largely untouched and pristine (Pauchard et al., 2009; Pyšek et al., 2011). Although human presence in mountain landscapes are ancient (Guo et al., 2018), and traditional land use such as hunting and pasturing still persists in parts of the world its inaccessibility, and often harsh living conditions with low temperatures and soil unsuitable for agriculture, has left the mountains mainly uninhibited and unexploited (Körner, 1999). In recent years, however, increased anthropogenic activity has started to change the landscape. Tourism, skiing and exploitation like mining in the mountains becomes more common along with a growing world population (Guo et al., 2018). Additionally, global warming is reported to be higher in polar latitudes and high altitudes, making alpine ecosystems particularly sensitive (Körner, 1999; Rantanen et al., 2022). As anthropogenic presence and global warming are both expected to increase further, changes in community composition of alpine vegetation as a consequence of these factors have become a growing topic of research in recent years. Since mountains provide important ecosystem services and can be rich in cultural heritage (Körner, 1999), research can provide insights into better preservation and conservation measures for these fragile ecosystems.

Because disturbance and exploitation are still relatively infrequent in mountains, these ecosystems also remain largely uninvaded by invasive plant species (Becker et al., 2005; Guo et al., 2018; Pauchard et al., 2009). But what was once a biome believed to be inherently resistant to invasions (Pauchard et al., 2009) has recently seen movements of invasive plants into new habitats and higher elevations (Becker et al., 2005), posing a threat to native flora and overall diversity. Though, the extent of impact these migrations have in alpine regions remain largely unsolved (Seipel et al., 2012). An invasive species tend to be of exotic origin, but native species with expanding ranges can be equally problematic if displaying characters similar to invasive species, typically dramatic growth of population size and competition with other species (Simberloff, 2011). Most frequently, invasive species found in alpine regions originate from a lowland species pool (Alexander et al., 2011). The occurrence then typically decreases with altitude (Iseli et al., 2023), regardless of world region (Alexander et al., 2011). This distribution pattern can be explained by environmental filtering as newcomers to a region are often less well adapted to low temperatures, snow cover, drought, high exposure to wind and UV-radiation (Andersen et al., 2015; Moser et al., 2005).

The tendency of a plant to be invasive or display invasiveness in a particular area is generally determined by its ability to disperse quickly and the size of its native range (Alpert et al., 2000). If a species is foreign, but show less invasive tendencies, it might be labeled as just nonnative. Invasive, or non-native, species in alpine ecosystems seem to be characterized by clonality and are more commonly perennial than annual (Andersen et al., 2015; McDougall et al., 2018). They are often generalists, with high adaptability and tolerance to many different environmental conditions; traits that are advantageous in alpine climates (Caplat et al., 2013). Further, species of European and Asian origin have been shown to be significantly more common as invasives globally (McDougall, Alexander, et al., 2011), highlighting the impact that historical trade and migration by these countries have had (Seipel et al., 2012). Any habitat to which a potentially invasive species arrives can be more or less susceptible to its establishment, generally referred to as its invasibility (Alpert et al., 2000). This measure depends partly on climatic restraints, but also on propagule pressure (Pauchard et al., 2009). Propagule pressure is dependent on the quantity and frequency of introductions to the habitat, which in turn increases with the number of visitations to the habitat (Pauchard et al., 2009). Increasing anthropogenic presence in alpine landscapes will therefore lead to more invasions.

1.2 Roads as vectors for invasions

As a consequence of increased human presence in mountain areas, infrastructure like roads become more frequent to facilitate transportation of goods and to support tourism. Roads are associated with a change in ecological conditions that can alter adjacent species composition by influencing hydrology and soil quality (Barros et al., 2022). The presence of a road also create disturbance in the form of habitat loss and fragmentation of surrounding vegetation (Kollarou et al., 2013). Several studies, carried out in various mountain regions in the world, have shown a greater species richness of non-native plants alongside roads (Arévalo et al., 2005; Barros et al., 2022; Ratier Backes et al., 2023; Seipel et al., 2012). This distribution can be explained by vehicles and footwear acting as vectors for dispersal, facilitating the spread of both native and non-native species. Potentially invasive plants can in this way expand into higher elevations (Ratier Backes et al., 2023; Taylor et al., 2012). Studies have further proposed that it is the direct, physical, disturbance caused by driving and trampling that acts to reduce biomass and thus competition, favoring early successional stages in the immediate surrounding terrain (Lembrechts et al., 2014; Ratier Backes et al., 2023). Nonnative species, that are often ruderal and generalistic, will as a consequence have higher chances of establishing themselves in the new habitat (McDougall et al., 2018).

1.3 Effect on diversity of native plants

Invasions by plants are said to be a large driver of biodiversity loss (Alexander et al., 2011; Alpert et al., 2000; IPEBS, 2019). Numerous studies of the impact from invasive species on recipient ecosystems have shown an overall negative change in several physical conditions (Ehrenfeld, 2010), which in turn alter ecosystem functioning including interactions. Most commonly, invasive plants influence nutrient availability and fluxes, biomass production and mineralization as well as temperature and light accessibility (Ehrenfeld, 2010). In a review article, Pyšek et al. (2012) presents a global overview of the impacts that invasive plants have on both resident biota and the direction of change in resident communities following invasion. A decrease in several impact measures was found in a clear majority of studies: Survival, abundance, species richness, species diversity and productivity of resident biota were all affected negatively (Pyšek et al., 2012).

The definition of biodiversity has been a long-debated topic, giving rise to various explanations of the concept. The term can encompass whole ecosystems, species, genes as well as processes or other measures of complexity (Gaston, 1998). To be able to estimate and compare biodiversity between systems, mathematicians have developed several indices over the years; the many versions indicating the differences in inclusivity and interpretations that the term biodiversity holds (DeJong, 1975). One such index is Pielou's Evenness Index, a metric that considers both species richness and the evenness of a community (Jost, 2010). A value of 1 represents a community where all species are equal in numbers. In this study, the Pielou's index will be used, to better describe the plant composition in the target region by capturing their relative abundance.

1.3 Project aim

Since diverse communities have been shown to display higher ecosystem functioning and viability, the preservation of biodiversity is of great importance (Tilman et al., 1996). A basic measure of biodiversity is species richness; simply the number of species present in a particular area. As previously stated, several studies have shown an increase in species richness alongside roads as an effect of disturbance (Lembrechts et al., 2014). Others have shown how the establishment of non-native species is facilitated by roads (Barros et al., 2022). Still others show that invasive plants are causing biodiversity loss (Alexander et al., 2011). We could therefore expect an increase in non-native species, but perhaps a decrease in native species as an effect of competition from non-native plants. However, little is known about how these two factors relate to each other and how varying richness can be attributed to competition, in contrast to road disturbance.

To answer questions on this topic, this study will use a dataset acquired from the Mountain Invasion Research Network (MIREN), a global effort to broaden the understanding of plant diversity and alpine ecology (Haider et al., 2022). The survey monitors species distribution and redistribution by repeated recordings of both roadside and distant, undisturbed vegetation. In each of these communities, both occurrences of native and non-native plants have been recorded. By comparing these types two of vegetation, this project aims to investigate how alpha diversity changes in relation to road disturbance and the presence of non-native species. These two factors will be contrasted to each other, in an attempt to disentangle their respective impact on native flora. The overall research questions are: *Do species richness increase adjacent to mountain roads?* And if it does not: *Is this difference in richness caused by the disturbance inherent to roads or is it caused by competition from non-native plants? Is there a positive interaction between these two factors, indicating an amplification effect from non-native species on native species richness in a disturbed environment?*

Understanding the patterns of non-native species movement and effect on diversity can help to understand the consequences of invasion in an environment which still displays low invasibility, as well as providing insight into appropriate conservation measures. Anthropogenic presence and climate change are both expected to increase, and alpine landscapes can be associated with important cultural heritage. Because of this, it is important to raise attention to negative changes in these environments (Körner, 1999).

2. Method

2.1 Survey design

Data for this project has been sampled during summer 2017 according to the standardized protocol provided by MIREN (https://www.mountaininvasions.org/). The sample area is located in the Northern Scandes near Narvik, Norway, where the survey is repeated at five-year intervals for long-term results. In this mountainous landscape, three roads have been selected (Figure 1), spanning the highest possible elevational range (13.2 - 703.7 m a.s.l) (Haider et al., 2022). Roads are further divided into 19 bands equal in elevation and survey sites are located at every split between two bands, resulting in 20 sites at every road (Figure 2a). What side of the road to be sampled is chosen at random. At every site three plots with 2 x 50 m area are laid out in a T-shaped transect: One parallel to the road (1), in this study called the 'roadside' plot, and two at a perpendicular angle with the centers at 25 (2) and 75m (3) away (Figure 2b). For this study, only plot 1 and 3 are used. Vegetation in plot 3 can be considered unaffected by road disturbance and contain natural plant communities, hereafter called the 'natural' plot.

In every plot, all observations of angiosperms, gymnosperms and ferns are determined to species level. If this precision is not achievable, plant observations can instead be recorded as a higher taxonomic level. Further, the cover of every species in a plot has been recorded along an ordinal scale with 8 classes representing the percentage of total area. (1 = < 0.1%, 2 = 0.1-1%, 3 = 2-5%, 4 = 6-10%, 5 = 11-25%, 6 = 26-50%, 7 = 51-75%, 8 = 76-100%). The status of each plant species has also been noted as 'native', 'alien' or 'unknown', determined by using regional floras (Haider et al., 2022). In this study, the terms 'alien' and 'non-native' will be used interchangeably. Although these plants are considered to be non-native, generally defined as being introduced after 1500 AD (Haider et al., 2022), no species are yet to be determined as invasive (Lembrechts et al., 2014).





Figure 1 (above). Location of sampling sites, near Narvik in Norway (68°26'18" N, 17°25'40" E). Right figure displays the three individual roads, labeled as RO, SO and NO. Image by Violetta Chernoray, from study "Mountain roads and the homogenization of plants".

Figure 2 (*left*). Survey design for the international MIREN-project, showing in (**a**) a simplified illustration of the layout of transect sites where samples are taken, each transect at equal elevational distance. (**b**) Plot design at each transect site. Plot 1 is parallel to the roadside, in this study referred to as "roadside plot". Plot 3 lies at 50-100 m from the roadside, at a 90° angle, in this study referred to as "natural plot". Image from Haider et. Al (2022)

2.2 Data handling and statistics

All data handling and statistical analyses were performed in RStudio v. 4.1.2 (Team, 2021) using package *dplyr* for data handling, *ggplot2* for graphics as well as *emmeans* for summaries from performed ANOVAs. From the original dataset provided by MIREN, all observations belonging to plot 2 were removed considering they are not relevant to the present research question. Further, observations where status was labelled as "unknown" were removed in order to correctly assign all species to either "native" or "alien". This action was only relevant for one species (*Achillea millefolium*) and consequently should not affect results considerably.

Complementing species richness as a response variable, the Pielou's evenness index was calculated for each plot. Pielou's index uses the proportion of each species, but since the percentage of each observation had not been recorded during the sampling, the index was calculated by using the cover variable (its classes explained above). The classes, 1-8, were treated as numerical values and could thus be used to calculate their proportion in each plot. This method deviates from the proper way of calculating the index and the results should consequently be regarded as slightly unreliable and limited in applicability. However, it could be considered as an adequate analysis for this type of project.

2.3 Statistical tests

All numerical values have been checked for normality with Shapiro-Wilks tests. Response variable *over-all species richness* were found to follow an approximate Gaussian distribution, while *native species richness* and *non-native species* were significantly different from normal.

As a consequence of survey design and sampling method, data follows a nested structure. Individual plots are nested within roads, meaning plots belonging to one road are likely to be more similar than to plots belonging to others. Further, the elevation above sea level on which each plot is situated on have been shown to affect over-all species richness and could also impact the results in this project. To assess the degree of independence for these two variables, ANOVAs were performed for *species richness ~ road identity* and *species richness ~ elevation*. Results show both factors could be considered confounding and non-independent, but *road identity* to a lesser degree.

To determine the general effect from road proximity on species richness, several ANCOVA's were performed, with elevation and road identity as covariates. ANCOVA's were also performed for testing interaction and evenness. A Pearson's correlation tests were used for examining the relationship between elevation and species richness, and a linear model for testing the response on native richness from alien richness.

3. Results

3.1 Overall and elevational distributions

In total, 203 species were found over 120 sites along the three mountain roads in Northern Scandes, Norway. Of these, 13 species are classed as non-native (6.4% of all plant species). The three most common species were *Empetrum nigrum*, *Betula pubescens* and *Deschampsia flexuosa*, all of which were found at 100 or more sites each (Table 1). 35 species were only found once across all sites.

Examining overall richness in the area, an average of 28.4 ± 0.9 (n = 120) species were found in each plot. Species richness changed slightly along the elevational gradient from sea level to 703.7 m a.s.l., but the distribution can not entirely be considered as statistically significant from random (Pearson's, r = 0.18, p = 0.086). However, the distribution of alien species clearly decreased with elevation (Linear model, t = -4.58, p < 0.001) and showed a much higher richness in lower altitudes, as is apparent in Figure 3. Between the three roads surveyed, overall richness was similar (ANOVA, F = 1.41, p = 0.249).

Native species	Observations	Non-native species	Observations
Empetrum nigrum	106	Trifolium repens	28
Betula pubescens	105	Trifolium pratense	14
Deschampsia flexuosa	100	Phleum pratense	10
Solidago virgaurea	97	Poa annua	6
Vaccinium myrtillus	92	Plantago major	4
Salix spp.	89	Tanacetum vulgare	3
Vaccinium vitis-idaea	89	Festuca pratensis	2
Vaccinium uliginosum	87	Matricaria suaveolens	2
Sorbus aucuparia	80	Stellaria graminea	2
Lysimachia europaea	79	Vicia cracca	2

Table 1. The 10 most common native and non-native species with the total number of observations over all 120 plots located in the study area.



Figure 3. Elevational distribution for six of the most commonly non-native species in the study area. Each point represents one observation. Total number of observations for selected species are 65, and maximum elevation is 703 m a.s.l.. Non-native species show a clear decrease in richness with higher elevation.

3.2 Road proximity and native - alien relationship

Species richness was generally higher adjacent to roads than in natural vegetation. For roadside plots, mean values were 35.5 ± 0.98 (n = 60) and the distribution was fairly homogeneous along the elevational gradient (Pearson's, r = 0.05, p = 0.660). In the natural plots species richness was 21.4 ± 0.9 (n = 60) and an increase could be seen with higher elevations (Pearson's, r = 0.41, p < 0.001) (Figure 4).

Overall species richness was highly affected by proximity to the road, an average of 14.1 more species in the roadside plots (ANOVA, F = 109.1, p < 0.001) (Figure 5a). The same relationship is found when examining native species richness (ANOVA, F = 96.5, p < 0.001) and alien species richness (ANOVA, F = 53.3, p < 0.001) separately as responses to road proximity. Both groups show higher richness by the road. However, only two observations of alien species were made in the natural plots, compared to 74 observations total in roadside plots.

Further, the relationship between alien and native species richness was positive, meaning an increase in alien observations in a plot is associated with a 1.57 increase in native observations (Linear model, t = 2.11, p = 0.037). To control for plot-to-plot variability and the disturbance effect found in road margins, *road proximity* was used as a covariate along with *elevation*.

Although species richness in roadside plots were generally higher, the evenness (Pielou's index) of the species composition was higher in natural vegetation (ANOVA, F = 100.4, p < 0.001), indicating that some species might be more dominant along the roads (Figure 5b).



Figure 4. Mean species richness for all 20 transect sites. Values are averages of the three sampled roads. The transect sites represent lines between elevational bands, equal in altitudinal difference from the base to the highest point reachable by vehicle. The variable can therefore present species richness as a response to elevation. No relationship was found for roadside plots (indigo), but an increase is found for natural plots (turquoise),



Figure 5a. Difference between overall species richness in roadside and natural plots. A clear difference is found. **b.** Pielou's evenness index displayed for roadside and natural plots. Mean value for roadside plots are 0.1 (\pm 0.002) and for natural 0.15 (\pm 0.004). Natural plots show more evenness between species.

3.3 Interaction

No interaction between road proximity and alien species richness on the overall species richness was found (ANOVA, F = 0.70, p = 0.40). The results indicate that an amplification effect is not found, competition from non-native plants is not stronger in disturbed areas than undisturbed. Rather, the disturbance that is associated with road margins seems to support a higher species richness of both native and non-native species, and is the primary factor determining differences in alpha diversity between roadside and natural areas (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Relationship between native and alien species richness, separated for roadside (n = 60) and natural plots (n = 60). Roadside plots are shown in indigo and natural plots in turquoise, lines show correlation between the two variables. No correlation can be found for roadside plots (r = 0.015, p = 0.906), but the relationship is significant for natural plots (r = 0.273, p = 0.035). However, only two observations of alien species were made in the natural plots and the test is therefore very weak.

4. Discussion

The results show that alpha diversity is indeed higher adjacent to mountain roads. Further, there are more non-native plants closer to the road than in the natural vegetation, indicating that roads are also facilitating their spread. However, the separate effects from road disturbance and non-native species on native species richness proved to be difficult to disentangle. The interaction between these two factors was not particularly strong. Regarding the quantity of non-natives, there are still relatively few species observed in the region. Norwegian mountains are, as previously mentioned, still fairly uninvaded (McDougall et al., 2018). In a previous MIREN-study conducted along the same three roads in Northern Scandes, only 11 alien species (5%) were identified (Lembrechts et al., 2014), two less than in the 2017 dataset used for this study. These numbers can be compared to a study performed in Canary Islands, where a total of 39% of all plant species were classed as invasive (Arévalo et al., 2005).

In the same Lembrechts' study from 2014, overall results are similar and support some of the results presented in this study. Particularly, they found that roadside plots had higher native species richness than plots far away (Lembrechts et al., 2014). Further, the elevational distribution, divided by road proximity, closely resembled those presented here (Figure 4). They, too, concluded an increase in species richness in natural plots, but roadside plots showed no direction of change as altitude increases. Comparing these two studies can give some support to the hypothesis presented here. However, finding similarities between the results can, in this case, not strengthen conclusions about alpine diversity in general, since the data could be considered a form of pseudoreplication.

Both the elevational patterns of non-native species and the compositional differences between roadside and natural vegetation can be explained by the disturbance caused by roads. Globally, native species are commonly unimodal in distribution with a slight peak at lower-mid ranges. In contrast, alien species usually decrease with higher elevations (Alexander et al., 2011; Grytnes et al., 2008; Guo et al., 2018; Haider et al., 2018; Iseli et al., 2023). This distribution is clearly a consequence of heightened propagule pressure from roads, and the ability of a non-native plant to establish at high altitudes is assisted by reduced competition and higher nitrogen availability (Lembrechts et al., 2017). From the roadside, non-native plants move and expand their ranges into adjacent natural vegetation, rather than directly from the neighboring lowland (McDougall et al., 2018). This mode of spreading has been well defined in previous literature, and could explain why only two observations were made in the natural plots in this dataset.

When examining the evenness of the communities, results show that natural vegetation is more even. This indicates that roadsides might be favoring the dominance from a few, competitive plant species. As has been hypothesized in previous research, disturbance is the key factor for takeover by ruderal, fast growing and expansive species (McDougall et al., 2018). Despite the clear difference found, caution needs to be taken when interpreting this association. The calculation of Pielou's evenness index was performed using classed species cover, contrary to proportion as the formula calls for. Index values are consequently slightly unreliable.

4.1 Invasiveness and invasibility

The degree of invasion from roadside plots into adjacent natural vegetation is dependent on both species traits and the characters of the resident vegetation (McDougall et al., 2018). These traits, such as height and reproduction strategy (Pyšek et al., 2012), are important research topics to allow predictions of invasiveness for particular species. It might even help to understand how invasive plants influence homogenization of communities (Haider et al., 2018). It is, nonetheless, beyond the scope of this study. As previously mentioned, the biotic interaction from invasive plants is typically negative for native species richness and diversity (Choler et al., 2001; Pyšek et al., 2012). In contrast, the results show that as alien species richness increases, native richness does too, even though the effect from road proximity has been removed. Several reasons could explain this. Firstly, the response from the road disturbance is so strong on species richness that removing its influence

during the analysis is not sufficient. To account for this, the survey design could be done differently. Secondly, no species have been classed as invasive (Artsdatabanken, 2018). The species are established after the year 1800, but are yet to show signs typical for invasives, such as rapid expansion and harm to native communities (Davis & Thompson, 2000). That makes impact evaluation somewhat difficult to determine, and increasing the certainty calls for using plants that have been established as invasive.

Biotic interactions can further help facilitate the establishment of plants in areas where they have previously not been found (Choler et al., 2001). How this relates to mountainous flora and elevational distribution is yet to be explored (Roux et al., 2012). Overall, studying invasiveness, invasibility and similar measures seems to be faced with difficulties. Although the urgency to limit the spread of invasive plants increase rapidly, the theory around impact and positive or negative consequences might sometimes become excessive.

4.2 Limitations, future studies and implications for management

The sampling protocol provided by MIREN ensures replication and consistency when comparing different areas around the world. However, using only the dataset from 2017 sampled in Northern Scandes does not allow for analyzing temporal variation or extrapolation to other geographical regions and ecosystems. Further, many environmental factors not included in this analysis might influence the patterns of diversity, such as soil quality and nutrient content. The degree of bare ground in each plot has also been ignored for simplification purposes, despite it being a measure that would give some information about the available space for vegetation to grow and could therefore affect the evenness metric.

For examining only the proposed negative effect that non-native or invasive species have on native species richness (Alexander et al., 2011; Alpert et al., 2000; IPEBS, 2019), the study could have been performed in a better way for stronger and more reliable results. Rather than using plots associated to mountain roads, only using plots with known sites for invasives and comparing species richness in natural vegetation would directly answer if a negative impact exists. In this case, only having 60 natural plots resulted in few datapoints of non-native observations and weaker statistical certainty. Likewise, total sample size should be increased if the study were to be repeated. It is also important to note that although this study finds correlations between factors, for example road proximity and species richness, it does not necessarily prove causality. To be able to determine the influence of other factors, and understand the mechanisms behind these correlations, additional research could be conducted to test and control for the different factors separately.

The results in this study support as well as highlights the importance of early assessment and attention when it comes to invasive species. Already, scientists in the field are calling for better proactive management in regions with little non-native flora, or sensitive ecosystems such as islands (Anderson et al., 2015). Anthropogenic activity will, most likely, continue to expand and alongside that continue to facilitate the spread and establishment of nonnative species (Iseli et al., 2023; Seipel et al., 2012). As the climate becomes warmer - mountains and arctic landscapes being especially vulnerable (Rantanen et al., 2022) - distributional changes are expected. Increased productivity and more hospitable growing space on mountain slopes (Körner, 1999) will likely result in more invasive plants in alpine regions, calling for even greater urgency in preventional management (Caplat et al., 2013). Practical examples of management include minimizing damaging tourism, providing information for visitors, limiting transportation and the spread of organic matter into high altitudes by for example cleaning vehicles (Anderson et al., 2015; McDougall, Khuroo, et al., 2011). Where needed, expanding populations might need to be controlled by eradication, although this is often less cost-effective (Rejmánek, 2000). In this light, continuing to expand knowledge on alpine flora, both native and alien, will become increasingly important to understand their traits, interactions and distributional patterns.

Conclusion

This study shows that the construction of roads has a large role in facilitating the spread of nonnative plants into mountain landscapes. The findings include higher richness of both non-native and native plants alongside roadsides, as well as lower evenness in species composition when comparing disturbed vegetation with natural. What needs further investigation is the possible impact, in terms of biodiversity change, that these newcomers could have on the resident flora. Studying the patterns of species distribution is important for understanding how diversity changes as a response to human activity. Since the northern Scandes is a region quite uninvaded by nonnative or invasive plants, early assessments and proactive management is still possible.

Acknowledgments

Thank you to Anne Bjorkman, supervisor, and Johan Uddling Fredin, examiner.

References

- Alexander, J. M., Kueffer, C., Daehler, C. C., Edwards, P. J., Pauchard, A., Seipel, T., Consortium, M., Arévalo, J., Cavieres, L., Dietz, H., Jakobs, G., McDougall, K., Naylor, B., Otto, R., Parks, C. G., Rew, L., & Walsh, N. (2011). Assembly of nonnative floras along elevational gradients explained by directional ecological filtering. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(2), 656-661. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.1013136108</u>
- Alpert, P., Bone, E., & Holzapfel, C. (2000). Invasiveness, invasibility and the role of environmental stress in the spread of non-native plants. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*, 3(1), 52-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1078/1433-8319-00004</u>
- Andersen, K. M., Naylor, B. J., Endress, B. A., & Parks, C. G. (2015). Contrasting distribution patterns of invasive and naturalized non-native species along environmental gradients in a semi-arid montane ecosystem. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 18(4), 683-693. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12185
- Anderson, L. G., Rocliffe, S., Haddaway, N. R., & Dunn, A. M. (2015). The Role of Tourism and Recreation in the Spread of Non-Native Species: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLOS ONE*, 10(10), e0140833. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0140833
- Arévalo, J. R., Delgado, J. D., Otto, R., Naranjo, A., Salas, M., & Fernández-Palacios, J. M. (2005). Distribution of alien vs. native plant species in roadside communities along an altitudinal gradient in Tenerife and Gran Canaria (Canary Islands). *Perspectives in Plant Ecology*, *Evolution and Systematics*, 7(3), 185-202.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppees.2005.09.003

- Artsdatabanken. (2018). Fremmedartslista https://www.artsdatabanken.no/fremmedartslista2018
- Barros, A., Haider, S., Müllerová, J., Alexander, J. M., Alvarez, M. A., Aschero, V., Daehler, C., Peyre, G., Backes, A. R., Arévalo, J. R., Cavieres, L., Dar, P., Fuentes-Lillo, E., Liedtke, R., McDougall, K., Milbau, A., Morgan, J. W., Naylor, B. J., Nuñez, M. A., ... Lembrechts, J. J. (2022). The Role of Roads and Trails for Facilitating Mountain Plant Invasions. In *Tourism, Recreation and Biological Invasions* (pp. 14-26). https://doi.org/10.1079/9781800620544.0003
- Becker, T., Dietz, H., Billeter, R., Buschmann, H., & Edwards, P. J. (2005). Altitudinal distribution of alien plant species in the Swiss Alps. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*, 7(3), 173-183. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ppees.2005.09.006</u>
- Caplat, P., Cheptou, P. O., Diez, J., Guisan, A., Larson, B. M. H., Macdougall, A. S., Peltzer, D. A., Richardson, D. M., Shea, K., van Kleunen, M., Zhang, R., & Buckley, Y. M. (2013). Movement, impacts and management of plant distributions in response to climate change: insights from invasions [<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2013.00430.x</u>]. *Oikos*, 122(9), 1265-1274. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2013.00430.x]
- Choler, P., Michalet, R., & Callaway, R. M. (2001). FACILITATION AND COMPETITION ON GRADIENTS IN ALPINE PLANT COMMUNITIES. *Ecology*, *8*2(12), 3295-3308. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2001)082[3295:FACOGI]2.0.CO;2</u>

- Davis, M. A., & Thompson, K. (2000). Eight Ways to Be a Colonizer; Two Ways to Be an Invader: A Proposed Nomenclature Scheme for Invasion Ecology. *Bulletin of the Ecological Society of America*, *81*(3), 226-230. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/20168448</u>
- DeJong, T. M. (1975). A Comparison of Three Diversity Indices Based on Their Components of Richness and Evenness. *Oikos*, 26(2), 222-227. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3543712</u>
- Ehrenfeld, J. G. (2010). Ecosystem Consequences of Biological Invasions. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics,* 41(1), 59-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-102209-</u> <u>144650</u>
- Gaston, K. J. (1998). Biodiversity. In *Conservation Science and Action* (pp. 1-19). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444313499.ch1
- Grytnes, J. A., Heegaard, E., & Romdal, T. S. (2008). Can the mass effect explain the mid-altitudinal peak in vascular plant species richness? *Basic and Applied Ecology*, *9*(4), 373-382. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2007.05.001
- Guo, Q., Fei, S., Shen, Z., Iannone III, B. V., Knott, J., & Chown, S. L. (2018). A global analysis of elevational distribution of non-native versus native plants. *Journal of Biogeography*, 45(4), 793-803. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.13145</u>
- Haider, S., Kueffer, C., Bruelheide, H., Seipel, T., Alexander, J. M., Rew, L. J., Arévalo, J. R., Cavieres, L. A., McDougall, K. L., Milbau, A., Naylor, B. J., Speziale, K., & Pauchard, A. (2018).
 Mountain roads and non-native species modify elevational patterns of plant diversity. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 27(6), 667-678. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12727</u>
- Haider, S., Lembrechts, J. J., McDougall, K., Pauchard, A., Alexander, J. M., Barros, A., Cavieres, L. A., Rashid, I., Rew, L. J., Aleksanyan, A., Arevalo, J. R., Aschero, V., Chisholm, C., Clark, V. R., Clavel, J., Daehler, C., Dar, P. A., Dietz, H., Dimarco, R. D., . . . Seipel, T. (2022). Think globally, measure locally: The MIREN standardized protocol for monitoring plant species distributions along elevation gradients. *Ecol Evol*, 12(2), e8590. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.8590
- IPEBS. (2019). Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental *Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.*
- Iseli, E., Chisholm, C., Lenoir, J., Haider, S., Seipel, T., Barros, A., Hargreaves, A. L., Kardol, P., Lembrechts, J. J., McDougall, K., Rashid, I., Rumpf, S. B., Arevalo, J. R., Cavieres, L., Daehler, C., Dar, P. A., Endress, B., Jakobs, G., Jimenez, A., . . . Alexander, J. M. (2023). Rapid upwards spread of non-native plants in mountains across continents. *Nat Ecol Evol*, 7(3), 405-413. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-022-01979-6
- Jost, L. (2010). The Relation between Evenness and Diversity. *Diversity*, 2(2), 207-232. https://www.mdpi.com/1424-2818/2/2/207
- Kollarou, V., Lantitsou, K., Athanasopoulou, A., & Kollaros, G. (2013). *Impact of roads on ecological conditions*.
- Körner, C. (1999). Alpine Plant Life: Functional Plant Ecology of High Mountain Ecosystems (C. Körner, Ed. Third ed.). Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-59538-8
- Lembrechts, J. J., Alexander, J. M., Cavieres, L. A., Haider, S., Lenoir, J., Kueffer, C., McDougall, K., Naylor, B. J., Nuñez, M. A., Pauchard, A., Rew, L. J., Nijs, I., & Milbau, A. (2017). Mountain roads shift native and non-native plant species' ranges. *Ecography*, 40(3), 353-364. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.02200
- Lembrechts, J. J., Milbau, A., & Nijs, I. (2014). Alien Roadside Species More Easily Invade Alpine than Lowland Plant Communities in a Subarctic Mountain Ecosystem. *PLOS ONE*, 9(2), e89664. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0089664
- McDougall, K. L., Alexander, J. M., Haider, S., Pauchard, A., Walsh, N. G., & Kueffer, C. (2011). Alien flora of mountains: global comparisons for the development of local preventive measures against plant invasions. *Diversity and Distributions*, *17*(1), 103-111. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00713.x</u>
- McDougall, K. L., Khuroo, A. A., Loope, L. L., Parks, C. G., Pauchard, A., Reshi, Z. A., Rushworth, I., & Kueffer, C. (2011). Plant Invasions in Mountains: Global Lessons for Better Management. *Mountain Research and Development*, 31(4), 380-387, 388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-11-00082.1</u>

- McDougall, K. L., Lembrechts, J., Rew, L. J., Haider, S., Cavieres, L. A., Kueffer, C., Milbau, A., Naylor, B. J., Nuñez, M. A., Pauchard, A., Seipel, T., Speziale, K. L., Wright, G. T., & Alexander, J. M. (2018). Running off the road: roadside non-native plants invading mountain vegetation. *Biological Invasions*, 20(12), 3461-3473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-018-1787-z</u>
- Moser, D., Dullinger, S., Englisch, T., Niklfeld, H., Plutzar, C., Sauberer, N., Zechmeister, H. G., & Grabherr, G. (2005). Environmental determinants of vascular plant species richness in the Austrian Alps. *Journal of Biogeography*, 32(7), 1117-1127. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2005.01265.x
- Pauchard, A., Kueffer, C., Dietz, H., Daehler, C. C., Alexander, J., Edwards, P. J., Arévalo, J. R., Cavieres, L. A., Guisan, A., Haider, S., Jakobs, G., McDougall, K., Millar, C. I., Naylor, B. J., Parks, C. G., Rew, L. J., & Seipel, T. (2009). Ain't no mountain high enough: plant invasions reaching new elevations. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 7(9), 479-486. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1890/080072
- Pyšek, P., Jarošík, V., Hulme, P. E., Pergl, J., Hejda, M., Schaffner, U., & Vilà, M. (2012). A global assessment of invasive plant impacts on resident species, communities and ecosystems: the interaction of impact measures, invading species' traits and environment. *Global Change Biology*, 18(5), 1725-1737. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02636.x
- Pyšek, P., Jarošík, V., Pergl, J., & Wild, J. (2011). Colonization of high altitudes by alien plants over the last two centuries. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(2), 439-440. https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.1017682108
- Rantanen, M., Karpechko, A. Y., Lipponen, A., Nordling, K., Hyvärinen, O., Ruosteenoja, K., Vihma, T., & Laaksonen, A. (2022). The Arctic has warmed nearly four times faster than the globe since 1979. *Communications Earth & Environment*, 3(1), 168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-022-00498-3</u>
- Ratier Backes, A., Römermann, C., Alexander, J. M., Arévalo, J. R., Keil, P., Padrón-Mederos, M. A., Trogisch, S., & Haider, S. (2023). Mechanisms behind elevational plant species richness patterns revealed by a trait-based approach. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 34(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.13171</u>
- Rejmánek, M. (2000). Invasive plants: approaches and predictions. *Austral Ecology*, 25(5), 497-506. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1442-9993.2000.01080.x
- Roux, P. C. I., Virtanen, R., Heikkinen, R. K., & Luoto, M. (2012). Biotic interactions affect the elevational ranges of high-latitude plant species. *Ecography*, 35(11), 1048-1056. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2012.07534.x
- Seipel, T., Kueffer, C., Rew, L. J., Daehler, C. C., Pauchard, A., Naylor, B. J., Alexander, J. M., Edwards, P. J., Parks, C. G., Arevalo, J. R., Cavieres, L. A., Dietz, H., Jakobs, G., McDougall, K., Otto, R., & Walsh, N. (2012). Processes at multiple scales affect richness and similarity of non-native plant species in mountains around the world. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 21(2), 236-246. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2011.00664.x
- Simberloff, D. (2011). "Native Invaders". In S. Daniel & R. Marcel (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Biological Invasions (pp. 472-475). University of California Press. https://doi.org/doi:10.1525/9780520948433-106
- Taylor, K., Brummer, T., Taper, M. L., Wing, A., & Rew, L. J. (2012). Human-mediated long-distance dispersal: an empirical evaluation of seed dispersal by vehicles. *Diversity and Distributions*, 18(9), 942-951. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2012.00926.x</u>
- Team, R. (2021). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. RStudio, PBC, Boston, MA. http://www.rstudio.com/